WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS OF THE CASE

Ronnie Lynn Legg was indicted by the June, 2003, term of the Grand Jury of Greenbrier County, West Virginia, of the felony offense of the "Wrongful Removal of Timber - More Than \$ 1,000.00." The Appellant was alleged to have entered upon the property of Josh Bruner on July 20, 2002, and timbered two red oak trees, which had a value of more than \$ 1,000.00. DNR Officer Charles Robert Johnson testified that he investigated the removal of the trees, and in March, 2003, questioned Clinton "Bucky" Holland in jail (Johnson Testimony, Page 18). Officer Johnson then testified that as a result

of the statement from Mr. Holland, he then went for the indictment against the Appellant (Ibid, Page 19).

The evidence of the boundary line between the property owned by Josh Bruner and the Holland family was contradictory. There was no agreement as to the existence or location of a fence between the property (Main Transcript, Volume I, Pages 95-96, 123-124, Testimony of Clinton W. Holland, Page 20). The State chose to not introduce any deeds describing the property, and did not introduce any evidence from a licensed surveyor.

Mr. Holland tried to invoke his 5th Amendment Rights repeatedly throughout his testimony, but did offer testimony that he had rented the timbering equipment from his employer (Testimony of Clinton Holland, Page 7) and that he was using this equipment to work on his family's property (Ibid, Page 6). This occurred during the first day of Trial. At the start of Day 2 of the Trial, the State requested that the Court add an instruction to the Jury Charge concerning "Aiding and Abetting". The Court granted this request over the objections of Counsel for the Appellant. Upon the conclusion of the Testimony, the Court instructed the Jury both upon the State's original theory of the case (Jury Instruction, Page 9-10) and upon its new theory of the case (Ibid, Page 13-15). The jury verdict form allowed for the Appellant to be found guilty of a felony, or a misdemeanor, or not guilty. It did not specify which felony under the jury charge that they would find him guilty of. This is covered in the Transcript of the Jury Instruction, Pages 19-21, although there are significant gaps in the Transcript.

The Appellant was convicted of a felony, and moved for a new trial upon the grounds that the "Aiding and Abetting" jury instruction had been improperly given, that the indictment became invalid upon that instruction being given, and that the verdict form failed to indicate under which theory of the State's case the Appellant had been convicted. The Court denied this motion upon the grounds that the two instructions applied to the same crime. This appeal follows.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN RULING THAT THE INDICTMENT WAS VALID ?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GIVING THE INSTRUCTION REQUESTED BY THE STATE CONCERNING AIDING AND ABETTING ?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY AS TO TWO POTENTIAL FELONY OFFENSES, BUT HAVING THE VERDICT FORM REFLECT ONLY THE OPTIONS "GUILTY OF A FELONY", "GUILTY OF A MISDEMEANOR" OR "NOT GUILTY" ?
4. DID THE STATE ESTABLISH THE BOUNDARY LINES OF THE PROPERTY AND THAT A TRESPASS OCCURED BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT ?
5. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL ?

CITATION OF AUTHORITIES

STATUTES:

West Virginia Constitution, Article III, Section 14
West Virginia Code Section 61-3-52

COURT RULES:

West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure Rule 7(c)(1)
West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure Rule 30

CASES REFERENCED:

State v. Wallace, 205 W. Va. 155, 517 S. E. 2d 20 (1999)

State ex. rel. Jonathan L. Day v. Honorable Gray Silver, III, Judge of the Circuit Court of Morgan County, and David H. Sevastien, Prosecuting Attorney for Morgan County, 210 W. Va. 175, 556 S. E. 2d. 820 (2001)

State v. Palmer, 210 W. Va. 372, 557 S. E. 2d. 779 (2001)

State v. Petry, 166 W. Va. 153, 273 S. E. 2d. 346 (1980)

State v. Ashcraft, 172 W. Va. 640, 309 S. E. 2d. 600 (1983)

State v. Williams, 209 W. Va. 25, 543 S. E. 2d 306 (2000)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In West Virginia, an indictment must meet certain criteria in order to be valid. It must (1) state the elements of the offense charged, (2) put the Defendant on fair notice of the charge against which he must defend, and (3) enable the Defendant to assert a prior acquittal or conviction in order to prevent being placed twice in jeopardy. Any assessment of the facial sufficiency of an indictment is limited to its "four corners", and because supplemental pleadings, such as a Bill of Particulars, cannot cure an otherwise defective indictment, Trial Courts are precluded from considering evidence from beyond the charging instrument. In the present case, the Defendant was indicted for the felony offense of the "Wrongful Removal of Timber - More Than \$ 1,000.00." After the first day of Trial, the State sought to obtain a conviction for the felony offense of the "Aiding and Abbetting the Wrongful Removal of Timber - More Than \$ 1,000.00." This is a seperate and distinct offense, with differing elements of proof. Once the State elected to proceed upon this theory, it rendered the indictment invalid. As a result, the indictment should have been dismissed.

The next assignment of error by the Appellant is that it was improper for the Trial Court to instruct the jury as to two seperate felony offenses. Even in cases where the State

is allowed to wait until the conclusion of the evidence before electing upon which offense it seeks a conviction by the jury, the State must make its election prior to the Court's instruction of the jury. In the present case, the Court did not require the State to make such an election, and instead instructed the jury as two possible felony offenses upon which they could find the Appellant guilty. Only one of these offenses had been previously charged against the Appellant, and neither offense was a lesser include offense of the other. It was error for the Trial Court not to have the State elect upon which theory of the case it was seeking to proceed, and instead instruct the jury as to both of the State's theories.

The next assignment of error by the Appellant is that it is impossible to tell from the Verdict form which of the two felony offenses that the jury was instructed that they actually found the Appellant guilty of committing. While the State argued that the two offenses were one and the same, the fact that it had offered two separate jury instructions for two felony offenses with differing elements of proof refutes that argument. Therefore, the Verdict Form used in this matter was flawed, and it was error for the Trial Court to permit its use.

The next assignment of error is that the State failed to establish a trespass by the Appellant upon the property of Josh Bruner beyond a reasonable doubt. The State failed to establish the boundary line of Mr. Bruner's property by use of either a deed or survey evidence. The evidence that the State did introduce was contradictory on the location of the boundary line and the existence of a fence that might have established the boundary line. Thus the evidence was insufficient to support a finding that the Appellant trespassed upon the property of Josh Bruner beyond a reasonable doubt.

Finally, the Appellant asserts that it was error for the Trial Court to deny his Motion for a New Trial. The Court did so based upon its ruling that only one felony offense had been involved. This ruling by the Court ignores the fact that it instructed the jury upon two separate felony offenses, with two separate jury instructions which contained different elements of proof. The Appellant has a right to know against which

offense he must defend, and what the elements of that offense are. That did not occur in this matter, and the only remedy to cure this mistake was for a new trial to be granted. It was error for the Court to deny the Motion for a New Trial by the Appellant.

ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE INDICTMENT OF THE APPELLANT WAS VALID AFTER THE STATE CHANGED ITS MIND CONCERNING ITS THEORY OF THE CASE.

In the decision of STATE V. WALLACE, 205 W. Va. 155, 517 S. E. 2d 20 (1999), the Court held that for an indictment to be sufficient under Article III, Section 14 of the West Virginia Constitution, and Rule 7(c)(1) of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure, it had to (1) state the elements of the offense charged, (2) put the Defendant on fair notice of the charge against which he must defend, and (3) enable the Defendant to assert an acquittal or conviction in order to prevent being placed twice in jeopardy. The Court further stated that any assessment of the facial sufficiency of an indictment is limited to its "four corners", and because supplemental pleadings, such as a Bill of Particulars, cannot cure an otherwise invalid indictment, Courts are precluded from considering evidence from sources beyond the charging instrument.

Following this doctrine, in STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA ex rel. JONATHAN L. DAY V. HONORABLE GRAY SILVER, III, JUDGE OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MORGAN COUNTY AND DAVID H. SEVASTIEN, PROSECUTING ATTORNEY FOR MORGAN COUNTY, 210 W. Va. 175, 556 S. E. 2d 820 (2001), the Court held that an indictment for Grand Larceny was insufficient when it failed to set forth the exact items of property alleged to have been stolen. In STATE V. PALMER, 210 W. Va. 372, 557 S. E. 2d 779 (2001), the Court held that an indictment for D.U.I. -

3rd Offense was insufficient when it failed to state that the prior convictions cited in the indictment were for D.U.I. offenses.

In the present case, the Appellant was indicted for the felony offense of "Wrongful Removal of Timber - More Than \$ 1,000.00". The Indictment sets forth the elements of the offense as being that (1) the Appellant, (2) in Greenbrier County, West Virginia, (3) on or about the 20th day of July, 2002, (4) willfully, maliciously and feloniously, and with intent to do harm, unlawfully entered upon the lands of Josh Bruner, (5) where he cut down, injured or removed red oak timber (6) without the permission of the landowner, and (7) that the value of timber was more than \$ 1,000.00. This Indictment would appear to be valid pursuant to the WALLACE doctrine.

The trial in this matter lasted a day and a half. At the start of the proceedings on the second day, the State submitted a proposed jury instruction to the Court wherein it sought to have the jury instructed upon the offense of "Aiding and Abetting the Wrongful Removal of Timber - More Than \$ 1,000.00". In accordance with this theory, the elements of the offense that must be proven are (1) that the Appellant, (2) in Greenbrier County, West Virginia, (3) on or about the 20th day of July, 2002, (3) while actually present at the time and place of the commission of the "Wrongful Removal of Timber", (4) did knowingly aid and abet (5) another individual (6) in the willful, intentional and malicious entry upon the land of another, with intent to do harm, (7) without the permission of the lawful owner, (8) and removed red oak timber (9) of a value of more than \$ 1,000.00.

At the time that this instruction was offered, the Indictment became defective under the WALLACE doctrine, as the elements of this offense were not set forth in the Indictment, nor was the Appellant put on fair notice that of the charge against which he had to defend. At the time that this instruction was offered unto the Court, the State had completed its case, and the only witness left to testify was the Defendant. The State argued that it had not changed its theory of the case, and relied upon STATE V. PETRY, 166 W. Va. 153, 273 S. E. 2d 346 (1980) and STATE V. ASHCRAFT, 172 W. Va. 640,

309 S. E. 2d 600 (1983), that a general indictment as a principal in the first degree would be sufficient to sustain a conviction as an aider or abettor, or as an accessory before the fact. While the Appellant acknowledges that PETRY and ASHCRAFT have never been expressly overruled, he would submit that they have certainly been modified by WALLACE.

In PETRY, the Court stated that facts and details concerning the State's case, which were not required to be set forth in the indictment, might be properly discovered by applying for a Bill of Particulars. Under WALLACE, all the elements of the offense alleged must be set forth within the "four corners" of the indictment, and Courts are precluded from considering evidence from sources beyond the charging instrument. In ASHCRAFT, the Court held that a criminal defendant is constitutionally entitled to be fully and plainly informed of the charges against him. WALLACE found that this must be done expressly in the indictment. Therefore, as soon as the State changed its theory of the case, and sought to have the Appellant convicted of an offense for which the elements were not set forth in the indictment, the indictment became invalid pursuant to WALLACE.

2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT MAKING THE STATE ELECT BETWEEN ITS TWO THEORIES OF THE CASE, AND INSTEAD INSTRUCTING THE JURY UPON BOTH THEORIES OF THE CASE PUT FORTH BY THE STATE.

It is the duty of the Court to instruct the jury as to the law to apply in the case that is being heard, pursuant to Rule 30 of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure. The State requested that the jury be instructed on two separate and distinct felony offenses. The first instruction in question is for the offense that was charged in the indictment (Instructions Transcript, Pages 9-10, 13). The second instruction sets forth an offense with different elements of proof (Ibid, Pages 13-15). It follows that offenses with different elements of proof cannot be the same offense. The State's proffered instruction for the

second offense should have been rejected as not pertaining the offense that was being tried before the Court.

Of course, jury instructions are to be tailored to fit the evidence that has been presented. STATE V. BENNETT, 157 W. Va. 702, 203 S. E. 2d 699 (1974). There are some instances where the State is allowed to wait until just before the jury instructions are given to elect which theory of the case it is proceeding under. Such an instance in the case of a possible "Felony-Murder Rule" proceeding, where the State may wait to elect as to whether it is seeking convictions for both First Degree Murder AND another felony, or if it is seeking a First Degree Murder conviction BECAUSE of the commission of the other felony. However, the State must elect one theory or the other prior to the instruction of the jury. In the present case, the State did not elect, and was allowed to proceed to the jury on a "multiple choice" theory. Counsel for the Appellant objected to the "second instruction" when it was offered at the start of the second day of trial, and the Trial Court noted a continuing objection to that instruction by the Appellant. In fact, the State even carried its multiple choice theory of the case into closing arguments, where it was argued that the jury could believe that the Appellant acted alone, or together with Clinton "Bucky" Holland, or with Mr. Holland and Hunter, or perhaps with some unknown persons, that the jury should still find the Appellant guilty. (Instructions, Page 17) It was error for Court to not have the State elect upon which theory of the case it was seeking to proceed with, and instead to instruct the jury as to both of the State's theories

3. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN USING A VERDICT FORM WHICH MAKES IT IMPOSSIBLE TO TELL WHICH OF THE TWO SEPERATE FELONY OFFENSES THAT THE JURY WAS INSTRUCTED CONCERNING THAT THEY FOUND THE APPELLANT GUILTY.

The verdict form given to the jury in this case gave the options of finding the Appellant guilty of a felony, guilty of a misdemeanor, or not guilty. However, the jury in this case was instructed upon two seperate felonies with different elements of proof, and

neither of which is a lesser included offense of the other. It is impossible to tell which offense the Appellant has been convicted of committing. The State has argued that the offenses are one and the same, but that argument ignores the fact that the two jury instructions in question (Jury Instructions, Page 9-10, 13-15) contain differing elements that must be proven by the State in order for the Defendant to be found guilty. Therefore, the Appellant would submit that the State's argument is without merit, and that the Verdict Form was inadequate.

4. THAT THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SHOW THE LOCATION OF THE BOUNDARY LINE BETWEEN THE HOLLAND PROPERTY AND THE BRUNER PROPERTY.

One of the elements of the offense of the Wrongful Removal of Timber, pursuant to West Virginia Code Section 61-3-52, is that the accused must have entered upon the lands of another. As with all elements of an offense, this must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. In this case, the State did not introduce a copies of the deeds setting forth the boundary line between the two tracts of property involved, nor did it introduce a survey of either tract of land to establish the boundary line. There was contradictory evidence presented as to the existence of a fence between the properties. Josh Bruner testified that, while he knew that there were some fences on his property lines, he didn't know their exact locations, or whether one was in existence at the location in question. (Main Transcript, Volume I, Pages 123-124). Harmon Boggs testified that such a fence did exist (Ibid, Pages 95-96). Clinton "Bucky" Holland testified that he believed that the trees in question were upon property belonging to his family (Testimony of Clinton W. Holland, Page 20).

While the Appellant has a heavy burden to support in challenging the sufficiency of the evidence, STATE V. WILLIAMS, 209 W. Va. 25, 543 S. E. 2d 306 (2000), makes it clear that the State must establish the location of the boundary line between properties beyond a reasonable doubt, and that this may be done by introduction of the deeds, or by

the testimony of a surveyor, or by evidence of a fence line. The State chose not to introduce the deeds, chose not to call a surveyor, and the evidence concerning any boundary line fence was contradictory, at best. As a result, the State failed to prove this element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt.

5. THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.

The Appellant raised the issues of the validity of the indictment, the appropriateness of the State's "Aiding and Abetting" instruction, and the sufficiency of the verdict from in his Motion for a New Trial. (Sentencing Transcript). These matters were rejected by Court upon the grounds that only one felony offense was involved.

This reasoning by the Court would seem to be flawed, as the Court instructed the jury on two separate and distinct felony offenses with differing elements of proof. Therefore, they cannot be the same crime. Under the WALLACE decision, the Defendant has a right to have all the elements of the offense against him set forth in the indictment. Certainly it should follow that the Defendant has the right to know of which offense he has been convicted. That has not happened in this case, and the only way in which to rectify this mistake is to grant the Defendant a new trial. The Court erred in failing to do so.

CONCLUSION