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

“Our holding in *Petry* explicitly abolished the distinctions between principals in the first degree and aiders and abettors at the indictment stage. Therefore, the prohibition against aiding and abetting instructions in instances where the indictment only charges the defendant as a principal in the first degree has also been abolished.”

Johnson, 179 W. Va. at 628, 371 S.E.2d at 349.

In his brief, Appellant cites *Wallace* for the proposition that an indictment must fully and plainly inform a defendant of the charges against him. (Appellant’s Brief at 8.) Appellee concurs. However, this is not what the instant case is about. In *Wallace* the word “burglariously” was omitted from a burglary indictment, and this Court ruled that such an omission was not a fatal defect in the indictment. In the instant case, the indictment charged Appellant as a principal in the first degree, while the proof indicated that he may have been a principal in the second degree – legally a difference without a distinction. See *State v. Johnson, supra*. It is clear from this Court’s ruling in *Johnson* that an aiding and abetting instruction in a case where the defendant has been indicted as a principal in the first degree is perfectly appropriate and is not error. Appellant’s bare assertion that somehow the ruling of *Petry* has “certainly been modified” by *Wallace* is inapt. (See Appellant’s Brief at 8.) It is perhaps noteworthy that Appellant fails to mention this Court’s decision in *Johnson*.

For the reasons set forth herein, Appellant's argument with respect to his first assignment of error is without merit. The decision of the circuit court in this regard should be affirmed.

B. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY INSTRUCTING THE JURY REGARDING AIDING AND ABETTING.

1. The Standard of Review.

A trial court has broad discretion in formulating its charge to the jury, and this Court reviews a challenge to the giving of a specific instruction under an abuse of discretion standard. *State v. Bell*, 211 W. Va. 308, 310, 565 S.E.2d 430, 432 (2002); *State v. Lease*, 196 W. Va. 318, 322, 472 S.E.2d 59, 63 (1996). "As a general rule, the refusal to give a requested jury instruction is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. By contrast, the question of whether a jury was properly instructed is a question of law, and the review is de novo." Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. Hinkle*, 200 W. Va. 280, 489 S.E.2d 257 (1996).

2. Discussion.

Appellant asserts that the trial court erred by not making the State elect between its two theories of the case, and instead instructing the jury upon both aiding and abetting and principal in the first degree. This claim is basically a reworking of his first assignment of error, and is likewise without merit. This Court rejected the same argument in *State v. Duncan*, 179 W. Va. 391, 369 S.E.2d 464 (1988):

We also reject the related argument that the State was required to elect between prosecuting the appellant as a principal in the first degree or as a principal in the second degree. *Cf. State v. Ashcraft*, 172 W. Va. 640, 309 S.E.2d 600 (1983). In *Ashcraft*, the trial court denied a portion of a defendant's bill of particulars which would have required the State to specify whether it would prosecute a defendant charged with first-degree murder as a principal in the first degree or a principal in the second degree. *Id.* 309 S.E.2d at 606. On appeal, it appeared to the Court that "the appellant, through the discovery process, attempted to force the prosecution to elect

one of two possible factual theories surrounding the degree of involvement of the appellant in [the victim's] death." *Id.* 309 S.E.2d at 606-07. Reasoning that "the resolution of factual disputes in a criminal trial is a function of the jury, not of the prosecutor," this Court held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying that portion of the appellant's motion for a bill of particulars. *Id.* 309 S.E.2d at 607.

Although in the present case we do not address the issue of election in the context of the discovery process, we find the reasoning of the *Ashcraft* Court applicable to the facts before us. Forcing the State to elect between possible factual theories surrounding the appellant's degree of involvement in the [offense] . . . would have invaded the fact finding function of the jury. We, therefore, find no error in the State's failure to elect between prosecuting the appellant as a principal in the first degree and a principal in the second degree.

Duncan, 169 W. Va. at 395-96, 369 S.E.2d at 468-69.

Interestingly, Appellant relies on felony-murder proceedings for his argument that the State must elect between its two theories of the case before presenting it to the jury. However, in *Stuckey v. Trent*, 202 W. Va. 498, 505 S.E.2d 417 (1998), this Court held that the State was *not* required to elect between premeditated killing and felony murder, but could instruct the jury on both theories, where the State was not seeking a conviction for the underlying felony. The Court reasoned that either theory was a means of proving the same offense – first degree murder. *Id.* at 505, 505 S.E.2d at 424.

In the present case, Appellant admitted cutting down the trees, and only his degree of involvement was at issue. There is no separate statutory definition for "aiding and abetting the malicious removal of timber" in violation of West Virginia Code § 61-3-52. *See* W. Va. Code § 61-11-6 (providing that a principal in the second degree "shall be punishable as if he were the principal in the first degree"). Because the basic elements of the offense and its punishment were the same under either theory, the State was not required to elect between them.

For the foregoing reasons, the circuit court's ruling on this issue should be affirmed.

C. THE VERDICT FORM USED BY THE COURT WAS PROPER, AND ANY CLAIM OF ERROR WAS WAIVED BY THE APPELLANT.

1. The Standard of Review.

To trigger application of the “plain error” doctrine, there must be (1) an error; (2) that is plain; (3) that affects substantial rights; and (4) seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings.

Under the “plain error” doctrine, “waiver” of error must be distinguished from “forfeiture” of a right. A deviation from a rule of law is error unless there is a waiver. When there has been a knowing and intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right, there is no error and the inquiry as to the effect of a deviation from the rule of law need not be determined. By contrast, mere forfeiture of a right -- the failure to make timely assertion of the right -- does not extinguish the error. In such a circumstance, it is necessary to continue the inquiry and to determine whether the error is “plain.” To be “plain,” the error must be “clear” or “obvious.”

Assuming that an error is “plain,” the inquiry must proceed to its last step and a determination made as to whether it affects the substantial rights of the defendant. To affect substantial rights means the error was prejudicial. It must have affected the outcome of the proceedings in the circuit court, and the defendant rather than the prosecutor bears the burden of persuasion with respect to prejudice.

Syl. Pts. 7, 8, and 9, *State v. Miller*, 194 W. Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114 (1995).

An unpreserved error is deemed plain and affects substantial rights only if the reviewing court finds the lower court skewed the fundamental fairness or basic integrity of the proceedings in some major respect. In clear terms, the plain error rule should be exercised only to avoid a miscarriage of justice. The discretionary authority of this Court invoked by lesser errors should be exercised sparingly and should be reserved for the correction of those few errors that seriously affect the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings.

Syl. Pt. 7, *State v. LaRock*, 196 W. Va. 294, 470 S.E.2d 613 (1996).

2. Discussion.

The Appellant asserts that the trial court erred in instructing the jury as to two potential felony offenses, but having the verdict form reflect only the options of “guilty of a felony”, “guilty of a misdemeanor” or “not guilty.” (See Petition for Appeal at 2, Appellant’s Brief at 3.) However,

Appellant's characterization of the verdict form is misleading. The verdict form presented to the jury actually read as follows:

VERDICT FORM

We, the jury, find the defendant RONNIE LYNN LEGG,

- _____ 1. Guilty of Wrongful Removal of Timber - More Than
\$1,000.00
- _____ 2. Guilty of Wrongful Removal of Timber - Less Than
\$1,000.00
- _____ 3. Not Guilty

(R. 69.)

The Appellant argues that the trial court erred in "using a verdict form which makes it impossible to tell which of the two separate felony offenses that the jury was instructed concerning that they found the Appellant guilty." (Appellant's Brief at 9.) However, this Court need not even address this issue, because Appellant waived any objection to the verdict form at trial.

After the trial court instructed the jury, a bench conference was held during which counsel and the court discussed whether the verdict form should be changed to include a finding on aiding and abetting. Although some of the discussion on this issue was inaudible and thus escaped transcription, the import of this final exchange is clear:

MR. ARBUCKLE: I guess I'm (inaudible) with the verdict form the way it is.

MR. DOLLY: I am too.

THE COURT: I'll leave it as it is.

(See R. 136, Jury Instruction Excerpt at 21.)

From the context, it is apparent that defense counsel advised the trial court that he was *satisfied* with the verdict form as written. Consequently, this issue has been waived by Appellant.

As this Court held in *State v. Miller, supra*, such a waiver forecloses plain error review: “When there has been a knowing and intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right, there is no error and the inquiry as to the effect of a deviation from the rule of law need not be determined.” Syl. Pt. 8, in part, *Miller*. When Appellant’s defense counsel declined the trial court’s invitation to amend the verdict form to include a finding as to aiding and abetting, he “intentionally relinquished” his right to such an amendment, and therefore waived any objection to the verdict form. *See State v. Knuckles*, 196 W. Va. 416, 421, 473 S.E.2d 131, 136 (1996) (per curiam) (holding that such a waiver “necessarily precludes salvage by plain error review.”). Accordingly, the Court should decline to address this issue.

As to the merits of Appellant’s assertions regarding the verdict form, this is again related to the “aiding and abetting” issue already addressed herein. Although somewhat inartfully drawn, Appellant’s argument seems to be that the verdict form should have contained another possible verdict - apparently that of “Guilty of Being an Aider and Abettor” or some variation thereof. The Appellant asserts that since two jury instructions were given, there were two differing sets of elements and that the verdict form was therefore “inadequate.” (Appellant’s Brief at 9-10.) This argument ignores the law in this jurisdiction. *See State v. Petry, supra*. There is no difference between the offenses for a principal in the first degree and a principal in the second degree, and a jury may convict for any crime upon proof that one aided and abetted another in the commission of such crime. *See State v. Johnson*, 179 W. Va. at 628, 371 S.E.2d at 349. *Cf. Stuckey v. Trent*, 202 W. Va. at 505, 505 S.E.2d at 424 (holding that separate verdict forms were not required for

premeditated murder and felony murder, where the State did not proceed against the defendant upon the underlying felony).

There is nothing wrong with this verdict form, which included both the felony charged and the lesser-included misdemeanor offense under the statute, in conformity with the jury instructions. (See R. 136, Jury Instruction Excerpt at 7-9.) The Appellant's argument for an additional option on the verdict form should be rejected by this Court.

D. THE EVIDENCE AT TRIAL REGARDING THE BOUNDARY LINE WAS CLEAR, AND WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE APPELLANT'S CONVICTION BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

1. The Standard of Review.

The function of an appellate court when reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a criminal conviction is to examine the evidence admitted at trial to determine whether such evidence, if believed, is sufficient to convince a reasonable person of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Thus, the relevant inquiry is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163 (1995).

A criminal defendant challenging the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction takes on a heavy burden. An appellate court must review all the evidence, whether direct or circumstantial, in the light most favorable to the prosecution and must credit all inferences and credibility assessments that the jury might have drawn in favor of the prosecution. . . . Finally, a jury verdict should be set aside only when the record contains no evidence, regardless of how it is weighed, from which the jury could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt[.]

Syl. Pt. 3, in part, *Guthrie*, *supra*.

2. Discussion.

The Appellant asserts that the evidence at trial was insufficient to show the location of the boundary line between the Holland property and the Bruner property. This assignment of error was not raised at the circuit court level or in the petition for appeal. It first appears in the Appellant's appeal brief.

The Appellant asserts that the evidence at trial regarding the boundary was "contradictory, at best." (Appellant's Brief at 11.) On the contrary, State witness Harmon Boggs, the caretaker who discovered the missing trees, testified that he had known the Bruner property for 20 or 30 years, and was familiar with the location of the property lines. (9/16/03 Tr. at 92.) Regarding the trees that were cut, the following exchange took place:

Q. Now, can you say for sure they were on Josh Bruner's property?

A. Yes, they was.

(*Id.* at 95.) Boggs went on to say that the trees were "about 10, 20, 30 feet from the line." (*Id.* at 96.)

Harmon Boggs also described an "old barbed-wire and old rail fence" that marked the property line, and said the trees were well within the Bruner property. (9/16/03 Tr. at 99-100.) Notably, during his testimony Appellant said that after he cut the trees down, "he [Holland] drug them down to his property," apparently referring to the adjoining Holland property. (9/17/03 Tr. at 16-17.) Given the testimony of Harmon Boggs, who testified about his historical knowledge of the property and its boundaries, coupled with the Appellant's testimonial "slip of the tongue," there was no genuine dispute regarding the property boundary. The Appellant knew that the trees were on the Bruner property, and admitted as much by telling the jury that Holland dragged the trees "down to

his property,” clearly suggesting that the logs were on someone else’s property before being dragged by Holland.

During cross-examination, Appellant also testified that after the trees were cut, Holland “skidded them across the fence” (9/17/03 Tr. at 28), further solidifying the State’s case that the trees were on Josh Bruner’s property. It is clear that the fence referred to by Appellant is the same fence described by Harmon Boggs as the boundary line between the properties in the following exchange:

Q. . . . and the line was where the fence was?

A. Yeah.

(9/16/03 Tr. at 95.)

In *State v. Williams*, 209 W.Va. 25, 543 S.E.2d 306 (2000), this Court reversed a conviction under West Virginia Code § 61-3-52, observing that the State had failed to meet its burden of proof regarding the property line over which the defendant logger had strayed. In the opinion, the Court found:

Regarding the precise location of the boundary line and whether the Appellant actually crossed it, the State failed to present a deed depicting the precise boundary line; nor did a surveyor testify to establish the property line. There was no fence along the property line; nor were there any remnants of a fence.

Williams, 209 W. Va. at 31, 543 S.E.2d at 312.

In the instant case, however, there was in fact a fence along the property line, and Harmon Boggs described it for the jury. The boundary line was established by competent proof. Even the Appellant admitted that, after having heard the testimony at trial, he understood that the trees were on Josh Bruner’s property. (9/17/03 Tr. at 23.)

Reviewing the trial testimony, one cannot escape noting that the boundary line was established by every witness who was asked about it. Beginning with Officer Johnson, continuing with Harmon Boggs, then witness Bucky Holland, and finally Appellant himself, all confirmed that the trees were on the Bruner property. To now suggest otherwise flies in the face of reality and trial testimony, which established the location of the boundary line beyond a reasonable doubt.

3. **The Appellant Failed to Preserve this Issue for Appeal.**

The boundary line issue was never raised by Appellant during his trial in the circuit court, or in his motion for a new trial. Consequently, the trial court did not have the opportunity to address this issue. "As a general matter, a defendant may not assign as error, for the first time on direct appeal, an issue that could have been presented initially for review by the trial court on a post-trial motion." Syl. Pt. 2, *State v. Salmons*, 203 W. Va. 561, 509 S.E.2d 842 (1998).

More importantly, the issue was not assigned as error in Appellant's petition for appeal to this Court. This Court has generally declined to address issues raised for the first time in an appellant's brief that were not assigned as error in the petition for appeal. *See, e.g., Dean v. West Virginia Dep't of Motor Vehicles*, 195 W. Va. 70, 73, 464 S.E.2d 589, 592 (1995) (*per curiam*); *State v. Lola Mae C.*, 185 W. Va. 452, 453, 408 S.E.2d 31, 41 n.1 (1991); *Adams v. El-Bash*, 175 W. Va. 781, 783, 338 S.E.2d 381, 388 (1985); *Holmes v. Basham*, 130 W. Va. 743, 754, 45 S.E.2d 252, 258 (1947). Because Appellant raised this issue for the first time in his brief, it should be deemed to be not properly presented for decision on appeal, and should not be considered by this Court.

The State recognizes that this Court may, in the interest of justice, apply the plain error doctrine *sua sponte* to review unpreserved errors when important constitutional rights are at stake.

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